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JANUARY 13th, 2 0 0 9

P a r tit io n  L a w  2 1  o f  1 9 7 7 , P a r t it io n  A c t  o f  1 9 5 1  -  Id e n t i ty  o f  th e  C o rp u s  

-  In v e s tig a tio n  o f  t it le  -  C o m m o n  O w n e rs h ip  -  D u t y  to a n s w e r  a l l  P o in ts  

o f  Contest - fa i lu r e  -  d e n ia l o f  ju s t ic e  - t r ia l  d e  N o vo  -  J u s t if ia b ility .

The Original Plaintiff -  R espondent -  Appellant, in stitu ted  action in the 

District C ourt of Colombo on 2 9 .1 .1 9 6 9  seeking to partition a  land called 

“Porikehena” The action w as contested by 1st, 3 rd an d  19 th defendants 

ou t of the 4 0  defendants in the original plaint. The trial w as concluded 

on 2 4 .3 .1 9 7 5 .  The original plaintiff Rom anis h ad  died pending the trial 

and Sopinona (Appellant) w as su b stitu ted  in his place. Before the 

judgm ent was delivered, the case w as transferred  to th e D istrict 

Court of H om agam a an d  trial com m enced de novo on 2 3 rd April 1 9 9 2 . 

At the conclusion of th e trial th e  learned D istrict Ju d g e delivered the 

judgm ent on 4 .9 .1 9 9 8 .  However, th e learned D istrict Ju d g e answ ered 

only issue No. 1 raised by th e appellant in h er favour, an d  refrained 

from answ ering any of the o th er issu es on the basis th a t they did not 

arise an d  disposed of the entire case only answ ering issue No. 1. The 

3 rd and 4 1 st R espondents appealed to the C ourt of Appeal. The C ourt 

of Appeal set aside the judgm ent an d  sen t the case back for re-trial. 

The su b stitu ted  plaintiff -  R espondent -  Appellant appealed against 

the judgm ent of the C ourt of Appeal. The Suprem e C ourt granted 

special leave to appeal on the following questions of law.
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(i) W hether in law, was there sufficient investigation of title of the 

parties by the Original Court.

(ii) W hether all issues need be answ ered by the District Judge when 
the answ er to one issue alone sufficiently determ ines the title of 
the parties.

(iii) W hether, if the answ er to a  single issue, in effect is a complete 
answ er to all the contents in the action, w hether it is necessary 
and incum bent on the District Judge to give specific answ ers to 
each and every issue.

Held

(1) In a  partition action, it would be the prime duty of the Trial Judge 
to carefully examine and investigate the actual rights and title to 
the land, sought to be partitioned. In th a t process it would be 
essential for the Trial Judge to consider the evidence led on points 
of contest and answ er all of them , stating as to why they are 
accepted or rejected.

(2) Answering only points of contest raised by one party in a  partition 
action and failing to consider the points of contest raised by other 
parties am ounts to denial of justice to the latter parties for no 
fault of theirs. Failure to consider the deeds and other docum ents 
produced by the respondents a t the trial leads to the conclusion, 
considering the rights of the respondents, there had in fact been a 
m iscarriage of justice.

(3) Since a  partition action is instituted to determ ine questions of 
title, it is necessary to conduct a  thorough investigation and the 
duty of such investigation devolves on the Court.

Per Saleem Marsoof., J .  -

(1) Where any person’s possession was originally not adverse, and he 
claim s th a t it h as become adverse, the o nus in on him to prove it. 
In doing so, he is required not only to prove intention on his part 
to possess adversely, b u t also a  m anifestation of th a t intention to 
the tru e  owner against whom he sets u p  his possession.

(2) Clarity in regard to the identity of the corpus is fundam ental 
to the investigation of title in a  partition case. W ithout proper 
identification of the corpus it would be impossible to conduct a 

proper investigation of title.
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(3) A basic principle in all th e enactm ents on Partition Law is th a t 
where there h as been no investigation of title, any resulting 
partition decree necessarily h a s  to be set aside.

(4) The judge m u st evaluate an d  consider th e totality of th e  evidence, 
giving a  sh o rt sum m ary of the evidence of the parties an d  
w itnesses an d  stating  th e reaso n s for h is preference to accept the 
evidence of one party  a s  opposed to th a t of th e other.

Per Saleem Marsoof, J . ,  - (dissenting w ith the conclusion on the 
question of trial de Novo.)

“I am  also firmly of th e opinion th a t, in  any event, no useful 
purpose would be served by sending this case back to the original 
court for trial d e  novo, as  directed by th e C ourt of Appeal. This 
would constitute a  third  trial of th is case m ore th a n  four decades 
since the m atter w as first brought before th e D istrict C ourt”.

“I note th a t Sopinona, Carolis an d  C om elis, the w itnesses 
presented before the C ourts in  th e second trial before th e District 
Court of Hom agama, would by now be m ore th a n  8 0  years old if 
they are living, an d  their d escendants m ay not know ab o u t the 
facts of this case even to extent Sopinona, Carolis an d  Com elis 
knew”.

“Considering therefore all the circum stances of this case, an d  in 
particular, the uncertainty  regarding the identity of the corpus, 
the failure to register lis pendens for the larger land of 1 acre 
and 1 6 .8 5  perches, the w eakness in the case of the Appellant as 
presented at the trial, the difficulty of finding w itnesses who can 
testify a t a  fresh trial, and evidence led at the trial which show th at 
the land sought to be partitioned was not co-owned property, I am  
of the opinion th a t it is appropriate to m ake order setting aside 
the judgm ent of the C ourt of Appeal dated 2 2 nd November 2 0 0 2  
as well as the judgm ent of the District C ourt dated 4 th Septem ber 
1 9 9 8 , an d  su b stitu te  therefore an  order th a t the action filed in the 
D istrict C ourt by the su b stitu ted  Appellant should stand 
dism issed”.

C ases re ferred  to  :

1. V ic tor v. C y r il d e  S ilv a  [1 9 9 8 ] 1 Sri L.R. 41

2 . W a m a k u la  v. R a m a n i J a y a w a r d e n a  [1 9 9 0 ] 1 Sri L. R. 2 0 6

3. W ije s u n d e ra  v. H e r a th  A p p u h a m y  a n d  o th ers  6 7  C. L. W. 6 3
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4 . D h a r m a d a s a  v. M e r a y a  [19 4 8 ] 5 0  N. L. R. 197

5. P e ir is  v. P e r e ra  (1 8 9 6 ) 1 N. L. R. 3 6 2

6 . M a th e r  v. T h a m o th e ra m  Pilla i (19 0 3 ) 6  N. L. R. 2 4 6

7 . N e e la k u ttu  v. A lv a r  (19 1 8 ) 2 0  N. L. R. 3 7 2

8 . B a ta g a m a  A p p u h a m y  v. D in g ir i M e n ik a  (18 9 7 ) N. L. R. 129

9 . F e re ira  v. H a n if fa  (19 1 2 ) 15 N. L. R. 4 4 5

10. F e r n a n d o  v. M o h a m a d u  S a ib o  (1 8 9 9 ) 3  N. L. R. 3 2 1

11. F e r n a n d o  v. P e re ra , 1 Tham byah Reports 71

12. M a n c h o h a m y  v. A n d ir is  9  S. C. C. 6 4

13. G o o n e r a tn e  v. B is h o p  o f  C o lo m b o  (1 9 3 1 ) 3 2  N. L. R. 3 3 7

14. N a g a m u ttu  v. P o n n a m p a la m  4  Tham byah 2 9

15. C a ro n c h i A p p u h a m y  v. M a n ik h a m y  4  Tham byah 120

16. C o o k e  v. B a n d u lh a m y  4  Tham byah 6 3

17. J o h n  S in g h o  v. P e d ir is  H a m y  (1 9 4 7 ) 4 8  N. L. R 3 4 5

18. Tikxri M e n ik a  v. D e o n is  (1 9 0 3 ) 7  N. L. R. 3 3 7

19. D o n a  L u c ih a m y  et a l v. C ic i l iy a h a m y  e t  a l (1 9 5 7 ) 5 9  N. L. R. 2 1 4

2 0 . M e e r a  M o h in d e e n  v. P a th u a m m a  7 6  C. L. W. 107

2 1 . C o o r a y  v. W ije s u r iy a  (1 9 5 8 ) 6 2  N. L. R. 1 5 8

2 2 . D e  S ilva  v. D e  S ilva  3  C. W. R. 3 1 8

2 3 . W ic k re m a re tn e  v. A lb e n i s  P e r e r a  [1 9 8 6 ] 1 Sri LR 1 9 0

2 4 . J a y a s o o r iy  v. U b a id  6 1  N. L. R. 3 5 2

2 5 . G n a n a p a n d ith e n  a n d  A n o th e r  v. B a la n a y a g a m  a n d  A n o th e r  [ 1998] 

1 Sri LR 3 9 1

2 6 . C o r e a  v. A p p u h a m y  15  NLR 6 5

2 7 . T il le k e r ta m e  v. B a s t ia n  2 1  NLR 12

2 8 . M a r ia  F e r n a n d o  a n d  A n o th e r  v. A n th o n y  F e r n a n d o  (1 9 9 7 ) 2  Sri LR 

3 5 6

28(a) S iy a d o r is  v. S im o n  - 3 0  CLW 5 0

2 9 . G u n a s e k a r a  v. T is s e ra  a n d  O th e r s  [19 9 4 ] 3  Sri LR 2 4 5

3 0 . K o b b e d a k u w a  v. S e n e v ir a tn e  5 3  NLR 3 5 4

3 1 . I th o h a m y  v. K a r a n a g o d a  5 6  NLR 2 5 0 ,  2 5 2



sc
Sopinona vs. Pitipanaarachchi And two others 

(Dr. Shirani Bandaranayake. J) 91

3 2 . B a n k  o f  C e y lo n  v. C h e llia h  P il la i  6 4  NLR 2 5  (PC)

3 3 . P eiris  v. M u n ic ip a l C ouncil, Galle 6 5  NLR 5 5 5

3 4 . M o h in u d e e n  a n d  A n o th e r  v. L a n k a  B a n k u u /a , Y o rk  S tree t, C o lom bo  

01  [20 0 1 ] 1 Sri LR, 2 9 0

3 5 . M u th u k r is h n a  v. G om es a n d  O th e rs  [1 9 9 4 ] 3  Sri LR 8

N ih a l J a y a m a n n e , P. C ., w ith D ilh a n  d e  S ilv a  for S u b stitu ted  -  Plaintiff 

-  Respondent -  Appellant.

R o h a n  S a h a b a n d u  for D efendants -  Appellants -  Respondents.

C u r.a d v .v u lt .

February 03rd, 2010
DR. SHIRANI BANDARANAYAKE, J.

I have had the advantage of reading in draft, the judgment 
of my brother Marsoof, J. Although I am in agreement with 
the findings of Marsoof, J., that the three (3) questions of law 
on which special leave to appeal was granted by this Court 
on 01.07.2003, must be answered in the negative, I am not 
in agreement with his conclusion that the judgment of the 
Court of Appeal dated 22.11.2002 be set aside.

I do not intend to make reference to the facts of this 
appeal since that had been dealt in detail by Marsoof, J. I would 
also not dwell on the three questions of law on which special 
leave to appeal was granted, as I am of the view that, con­
sidering the facts and circumstances, and more importantly 
the legality of the questions reused, they must be answered in 
the negative.

In the light of the above, I would only consider the 
questions as to whether it would be correct to conclude that 
the judgment of the Court of Appeal dated 22.11.2002, which 
decided to set aside the judgment of the learned District 
Judge and to hold a trial de novo should be set aside.
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The main issue before the Court of Appeal was on the 
basis that the learned District Judge had answered only one 
issue, which was raised by the plaintiff-respondent-appellant 
(hereinafter referred to as the appellant). The contention of 
the learned President’s Counsel for the appellant was that 
since the main issue raised by the appellant was answered 
by the learned District Judge, there was no necessity to 
answer the other issues framed by the defendants-appellants- 
respondents (hereinafter referred to as the respondents). 
Considering the submissions made by both learned Counsel 
before the Court of Appeal, Somawansa, J., had taken the 
view that the learned District Judge had failed to consider 
and analyse the totality of the evidence led before the District 
Court and more importantly that she had decided on the 
allocation of shares in accordance with the pedigree given in 
the plaint without examining the devolution of title. In arriving 
at this conclusion, learned Judge of the Court of Appeal had 
referred to several instances, where the learned District Judge 
had erred. Referring to such instances, Somawansa, J., in his 
judgment had stated thus:

“The fact that she has not given her mind to analyse the 
evidence is borne out by her misstatements that the 3rd 
defendant-appellant is a son of Jeeris when in fact he was 
a grandson and again that Carolis is a son of Haramanis’s 
brother when in fact he was the son of Odiris, who is the 
son of Haramanis.

It is apparent that the learned District Judge has failed to 
consider and analyse the totality of the evidence led and 
more importantly has failed to examine the title of parties. 
With a sweeping statement she has directed that alloca­
tion of shares should be in accordance with the pedigree 
as shown in the plaint when in fact it was incumbent
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on her to examine the devolution of title. It is also to 
be noted that the learned District Judge has failed to 
consider and answer 13 issues on the basis that in view 
of answer to issue No. 01 it was not necessary to answer 
the other issues. Here again, I am of the view that she 
has erred in not answering the balance 13 issues. For 
issue No 01 is based not only on devolution of title, but 
also on prescription. Therefore it becomes necessary to 
consider and analyse the evidence to ascertain whether 
parties disclosed in the plaint had prescribed which the 
learned District Judge has failed to do.”

Learned Judge of the Court of Appeal had referred to 
several decisions (Victor v Cyril de Silva{1), Wamakula v. 
Ramani Jayawardena ,2), Wijesundera v. Herath Appuhamy 
and others(3), Dharmadasa v. Merayam, Peiris v. Perera{5) and 
Mather v. Thamotheram Pillai(6).

By this the learned Judge of the Court of Appeal had 
emphasized the need to evaluate both oral and documentary 
evidence in a partition action in order to ascertain the actual 
owners of the land in question before entering the decree, 
which is good and conclusive against the whole world.

The action in question was initially instituted in the 
District Court of Homagama Seeking to partition a land, 
which was known as Porikiyahena in extent 3R. IIP., 
morefully described in the schedule to the plaint and depicted 
as lots A and B in the preliminary plan No. 255 prepared by
A. P. S. Gunawardena, Licensed Surveyor dated 06.07.1970.

Since a partition action is instituted to determine 
questions of title, it is necessary to conduct a thorough 
investigation and the duty of such investigation undoubtedly 
devolves on the Court. Bertram A. C. J., in Neelakutty v. Alvar{7)
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had considered the reason underlying the need for a careful 
investigation by Court and had clearly stated that it is 
due to the effect of a partition decree, which is much 
the same as that of a judgment in rem. Browne A. J. in 
Batagama Appuhamy v. Dingiri MenikalS) emphasized the 
fact that in order to obtain a decree of partition, which 
is binding against the whole world, the Court should 
require the parties to prove their title. This position was 
again considered by Bonser, C. J., Peiris v. Perera (supra), 
where it was clearly stated that,

“It is obvious that the Court ought not to make a 
(partition) decree, unless it is perfectly satisfied that the 
persons in whose favour it makes the decree are entitled 
to the property. The Court should not, as it seems to 
me, regard these actions as merely to be decided on 
issues raised by and between the parties. The first thing 
the Court has to do is to satisfy itself that the plaintiff 
has made out his title, for unless he makes out his title, 
his action cannot be maintained; and he must prove his 
title strictly, as has been frequently pointed out by this 
Court.”

The need for a careful investigation of all titles has been 
emphatically reiterated by our Courts in many decisions 
(Mather v. Tamatheram Pillai (supra), Ferreira v. Haniffa[9), 
Fernando v. Mohamadu Saibo{10], Fernando v. Perera{U), 
Manchohamy v. Andiris{1'2], Gooneratne v. Bishop of Colombo1131 
Nagamuttu v. Ponampalam[l*], Caronchi Appuhamy v. 
Manikhamy (15|> Cooke u. Bandulhami/]6] and there is no 
doubt regarding the necessity for a thorough investigation of 
title in partition actions.

It is not disputed that the learned District Judge had not 
carefully examined and analysed the totality of the evidence
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placed before her and had not taken steps to investigate the 
title of parties before the District Court. It is also not disputed 
that the learned District Judge had answered only issue 
No. 1 and had not answered the 13 issues raised by the 
respondents.

An important feature in our Civil Procedure Code is the 
requirement that specific issues be framed (Civil Procedure in 
Ceylon K. D. P. Wickramanayake, 1st edition, 1971, pg. 177). 
In partition actions they are commonly known as points of 
contest and not as issues in John Singho v. Pediris Ham y{17} 
reference was made to such points of contest in a partition 
action.

Considering all the aforementioned circumstances, I 
would now turn to consider the question, that was raised at 
the outset, as to whether it would be correct to conclude that 
the judgment of the Court of Appeal dated 22.11.2002, which 
decided to set aside the judgment of the District Court and to 
hold a trial de novo, should be set aside.

Section 187 of the Civil Procedure Code deals with 
the requisites of a judgment of a trial Court and reads as 
follows:

“The judgment shall contain a concise statement of the 
case, the points for determination, the decision thereon 
and the reasons for such decision; and the opinions o f the 
assessors (if any) shall be prefixed to the judgment and 

signed by such assessors respectively. ”

Considering the provisions contained in Section 187 
of the Civil Procedure Code, in Wamakula v. Ramani 
Jayawardena (supra), The Court of Appeal observed that the 
learned District Judge had failed to consider the totality of the



96 Sri Lanka L aw  Reports [2010] 1 SRI L.R.

evidence led on behalf of the plaintiff-appellant and had held 
that,

“Bare answers to issues without reasons are not in 
compliance with the requirements of Section 187 of the 
Civil procedure Code. The evidence germane to each 
issue must be reviewed or examined. The judge must 
evaluate and consider the totality of the evidence.”

In Tikiri Manika v. Deonis^'8) it was held that a judg­
ment which does not deal with the points in issue and 
does not pronounce a finding definitely on them is 
not a judicial pronouncement and as stated in Dona 
Lucihamy et al. v. Ceciliyanahamy et.al.{19] bare answers in 
a judgment to issues are insufficient, unless all matters, 
which arise for decision under each head have been 
examined. Moreover examining the provisions contained in 
Section 187 of the Civil Procedure Code, Sirimane, J. in Meera 

Mohideen v. Pathummam  had clearly stated that,

“A trial Judge should assess the oral evidence and bring 
his mind to bear on the facts relevant to the dispute and 
give reasons for his decision of the dispute as required by 
Section 187 of the Code.”

Considering the facts and circumstances of this appeal, 
it is evident that by only answering the point of contest raised 
as the only issue by the appellant in the District Court and 
not giving any consideration to the points of contest raised 
by the respondents, justice was denied to them for no fault of 
the respondents. The respondents’ allegation before the Court 
of Appeal was that there deeds were not at all considered, 
which leads not only to the conclusion that there had 
been a denial of justice, but also considering the rights of
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the respondents that there had in fact been a miscarriage of 
justice. In Cooray v. WijesuriyaPl), Sinnetamby, J. referred to 
the importance of Court being cautious of its investigations 
regarding the entitlement of parties in a partition action. 
According to Sinnetamby, J.,

“It is unnecessary to add that the Court, before entering 
a decree, should hold a careful investigation and act only 
on clear proof of the title of all the parties,.”

It is to be borne in mind that a partition suit could 
be said to be a proceeding taken for the prevention or 
redress of a wrong within the ambit of section 3 of the Court’s 
Ordinance (De Silva v De Silval22). Accordingly in a 
partition action, it would be the prime duty of the 
Trial Judge to carefully examine and investigate the actual 
rights and titles to the land, sought to be partitioned. In that 
process it would essential for the Trial Judge to consider the 
evidence led on points of contest and answer all of them, 
stating as to why they are accepted or rejected.

It is not disputed that this action has been pending since 
1969 for a period of over 4 decades. It is unfortunate to note 
that even after such a long time span, to this date the points 
of contest taken up in the form of issues at the District Court, 
have remained unanswered. Whilst the inordinate delay from 
the very commencement of this case cannot be condoned, 
in order to mete out justice in a fair and a rational manner, 
it would be necessary for the District Court to take up this 
matter de novo to carefully examine the devolution of title on 
the basis of oral and documentary evidence on the allocation 
of shares and to take steps to answer all the points of contest 
raised as issues, as otherwise there could be a miscarriage of 
justice.
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Accordingly, for the reasons aforesaid the question is 
answered in the negative and the judgment of the Court of 
Appeal dated 22.11.2002, which set aside the judgment of 
the District Court, Homagama and directed the case to be 
sent back for a trial de novo, is affirmed.

The Registrar is directed to send the case record to 
the District Court Homagama forthwith and the learned 
District Judge is directed to hear and conclude the case as 
expeditiously as possible.

I make no order as to costs.

BALAPATABENDI, J. -  I agree.

Appeal dismissed

SALEEM MARSOOF, J.

Over four decades ago, on 29th January 1969 the 
original Plaintiff-Respondent-Appellant, Welapahala Arach- 
chige Remanis, of Pitipana South, Homagama, instituted 
action in the District Court of Colombo seeking to partition 
a land called “Porikehena”, in extent 3 roods and 11 perch­
es and situated in the village of Pitipana in the Hewagam 
Korale then falling within the Colombo District. The action 
was contested only by the 1st, 3rd and 19th Defendants, out of 
the 40 persons named as Defendants in the plaint. The land 
sought to be partitioned was described in the schedule to the 
plaint by reference to Plan No. 167058 dated 2nd July 1985 
authenticated by D. G. Mantale, Surveyor General, and 
referred to in Crown Grant No. 30258 dated 28th December 
1985 (PI), by which the said land was granted to Remanis’s
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grandfather Pitipana Achachchige Jeeris jointly with another 
person named Thantirige Haramanis, of the same village. The 
said Jeeris had four children, one of whom was Sethuhamy, 
who was admittedly the mother of the original Plaintiff, 
Remanis.

It must be mentioned at the outset that this case has 
had a long and checkered history despite the fact that 
after the initial steps that necessarily take time in partition 
cases, the trial had commenced and was concluded on 24th 
March 1975. Since Remanis had died prior to the said trial 
date, his widow, Poragalage Sopinona (hereinafter referred to 
as “the Appellant”) who had been substituted in his place, 
and another witness, Thantirige Carolis, testified on behalf 
of the Appellant. On behalf of the contesting Defendant- 
Appellant-Respondents (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Respondents”). Pitipana Arachchige Tikonis, the original 
1st Defendant, and Matarage Menchinona, who had been 
substituted as the 41st Defendant in place her deceased 
husband Pitipana Arachchige Obias, gave evidence. However, 
before the judgement was delivered in this case, the case 
was transferred to the newly established District Court of 
Homagama and trial commenced de novo on 23rd April 1992.

At the commencement of the fresh trial before the District 
Court of Homagama on 23rd April 1992, the parties admitted 
that the land described in the schedule to the plaint is shown 
in the preliminary Plan No. 255 dated 6th July 1970 and 
certified by A. P. S. Gunawardene, Licenced Surveyor, and 
that Emis, Sadiris, Charlis and Sethuhamy are the heirs of 
Jeeris. It is noteworthy that the said Preliminary Plan bearing 
No. 255 depicts two lots marked as ‘A ’ and *B’ respectively 
in extent 2 roods and 26.8 perches and 1 rood and 30.05
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perches, which add up to a land extent of 1 acre and 16.85 
perches. This is far in excess of the corpus as described in the 
schedule to the plaint which is only 3 roods and 11.9 perches. 
The Respondents, although admitting that the land described 
in the schedule to the plaint is shown in the Preliminary Plan 
No. 255, had alluded to this discrepancy at paragraph 20 
of their answer, and asserted that after the death of Jeeris, 
the land called Porikehena which he had possessed by virtue 
of the Crown Grant, was amalgamated with two other lands 
separately owned by him namely, Indipitiya and Mahakele 
Mukalana, and Plan No. 1868 dated 27th July 1940 certified 
by D. A. Goonatilleka, Licenced Surveyor (3DI) was prepared 
to amicably divide the amalgamated land amongst his heirs 
Emis, Sadiris, Charlis and Sethuhamy. It was the case of the 
Respondents that accordingly, lot ‘A’ of the said Plan was 
allotted to Charlis, while lots ‘B ’ and ‘E’ were allotted to Emis, 
and lots ‘C’ and T)’ respectively were allotted to Sadris and 
Sethuhamy, and that they continued to possess the said lots 
as defined and divided portions of land for the exclusion of 
all others.

The issues that were raised at the commencement of the 
trial are set out below.

On behalf of the Appellant

(1) Are the parties mentioned in the plaint entitled to the 
land described in the schedule to the plaint by virtue of 
the pedigree set out in the plaint and prescription?

On behalf of the Defendant

(2) Did Jeeris Appu possess the land which is the subject 
matter of this case and two other lands, namely, Indipitiya
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and Mukalana situated adjoining the said land as one 
piece of land (£>zs> <g>Q®isJ Oeaocazrf)?

(3) Did Jeeris Appu’s children Emis, Sadiris, Charlis and 
Sethuhamy possess the aforesaid three lands as one 
piece of land?

(4) Did the aforesaid four persons after possessing the 
aforesaid three lands as one amicably partition of the 
said lands among themselves by Plan No. 1868 dated 
27th June 1940?

(5) Accordingly, did Sethuhamy possess lot ‘D ’, Sadiris 
possess lot ‘C’, Emis possess lots 13’ and TE’ and Charlis 
possess lot ‘A ’ of the said Plan?

(6) Did Sethuhami sell her rights to lot T)’ to the Plaintiff 
(who is her son and the present Appellant) by Deed No. 
1845 dated 3rd February 1950?

(7) If answer to the above question is in the affirmative, can 
Plaintiff act in a manner inconsistent with the amicable 
partition effected by Plan No. 1868?

(8) Are lots ‘A ’ and <E ’ of Plan No. 1868, the same as the lot 
‘A’ and *B‘ of Plan No. 255 prepared for this case?

(9) Are any portion of the aforesaid two lands own by the 
Plaintiff or other parties mentioned in his pedigree?

Apart from these issues certain additional issues 
were also formulated on the suggestion of Counsel for the 
Appellant and Counsel for the Respondents as issues (10) 
to (14) which seek to further clarify the matters on which 
parties were at variance. While at the trial de novo the same 
witnesses, Sopinona and Carolis, testified on behalf of the 
Appellant, since the original 1st Defendant Tikonis had 
passed away, the original 3rd Defendant, Pitipana Arachchige
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Cornells alone gave evidence on behalf of the Respondents. The 
question that loomed large at the trial was whether Jeeris had 
possessed the land sought to be partitioned to the exclusion 
of Haramanis, and in particular whether the amalgamation 
of the said land with his other lands Indipitiya and Mahakele 
Mukalana, and the allotment of distinct portions of the 
amalgamated land to Emis, Sadiris, Charlis and Sethuhamy 
as set out in the Plan No. 1868 dated 27th June 1940 (3DI), 
constituted evidence of ouster.

The learned District Judge, held with the Appellant, and 
in the course of her judgement dated 4th September 1998, 
agreed with the submissions made on behalf of the Appellant 
that Jeeris or Jeeris’ heirs, who are entitled only to an 
undivided half share of the land, cannot prescribe to the other 
undivided half share of Haramanis since a co-owner cannot 
in law prescribe against his other co-owner in the absence of 
proof of ouster. The learned District Judge observed that -
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Accordingly, the Learned District Judge answered issue 
No. 1 raised by the Appellant in her favour, and refrained 
from answering any of the other issues on the basis that they 
did not arise. I quote below the final paragraph of the said 
judgment -
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Aggrieved by this decision, the 3rd and 41st Respondents 
appealed to the Court of Appeal. It was submitted on behalf 
of the Respondents that the learned District judge had not 
considered all the documentaiy and other evidence ten­
dered on behalf of the Respondents and had thereby failed to 
discharge her duty to properly investigate title. In allowing the 
appeal, Andrew Somawansa, J., in the course of his judgement 
dated 22nd November 2002 with which N. E. Dissanayake, J. 
concurred, noted that while 5 deeds were marked by the 
Appellant and 9 marked by the Respondents, the learned 
District Judge had considered only 4 of the said deeds. 
Somawansa, J. held that the learned District Judge had 
seriously erred in seeking to dispose of the whole case through 
his answer to issue No. 1 his Lordship observed that -

“Here again, I am of the view that she has erred in not 
answering the balance issues. For issue No. 1 is based 
not only on devolution of title but also on prescription. 
Therefore it becomes necessary to consider and analyse 
the evidence to ascertain whether parties disclosed in the 
plaint had prescribed which the learned District Judge 
has failed to do.”

Accordingly, Somawansa, J. concluded that -

“Had she answered them, this Court would be in a 
position to consider her findings on the said issues. 
However, as she has failed to answer the rest of the issues, 
though with reluctance, I am compelled to set aside the 
judgement of the learned District Judge and send the 
case back for re-trial.”

This Court has granted special leave to appeal against 
the said judgement of the Court of Appeal on the following 
questions of law:-
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“(a) Whether in law there was sufficient investigation of title 
of the parties by the original court;

(b) Whether all issues need be answered by the District 
Judge when the answer to one issue alone sufficiently 
determines the title of the parties to the land both on 
deeds and on prescription;

(c) Whether, if the answer to a single issue, in effect is a 
complete answer to all the contents in the action, whether 
it is necessary and incumbent on the District Judge to 
give specific answers to the other issues. Specially, if in 
arriving at the answer to the issue the Learned District 
Judge has considered and dealt with the matters raised 
in the other issues.”

Identity of the Corpus

Before dealing with the first substantial question of law 
on which special leave has been granted by this Court in this 
appeal, it is necessary to deal with the question of identity of 
the land sought to be partitioned, which is a matter of vital 
importance in any partition case. Without proper identification 
of the corpus it would be impossible to conduct a proper 
investigation of title. As G.P.S. de Silva, J. (as he then was) 
emphasized in the course of his judgement in Wickremaratne 
v. Albenis PerercP3) at 199, in a partition action, “there are 
certain duties cast on the court quite apart from objections 
that may or may be taken by the parties” and this includes 
the “supervening duty to satisfy itself as to the identity of 
the corpus and also at to the title of each and every party 
who claims title to it.” In Jayasooriay v UbaidP4) at 353 
Sansoni, J. observed that “there is no question that there 
was a duty cast on the Judge to satisfy himself as to the 
identity of the land sought to be partitioned, and for



106 Sri Lanka L aw  Reports [2010] 1 SRI L.R.

this purpose it was always open to him to call for further 
evidence in order to make a proper investigation.” This is 
because clarity in regard to the identity of the corpus is 
fundamental to the investigation of title in a partition case.

In this connection, it is necessary to observe that in the 
plaint filed in this case, the original Plaintiff Remanis sought 
to partition the land described as Porikehena in extent 3 roods 
and 11 perches. However, as already noted, the Preliminary 
Plan No. 255 covers a much larger extent of 1 acre and 
16.85 perches, which is far in excess of the land described in 
the schedule to the plaint and covered by the Crown Grant 
No. 30258, dated 28th December 1895 (PI) from which the 
Appellant claims to have derived title. Despite the said 
discrepancy in the extent of land being adverted to in 
paragraph 20 of the answer filed by the contesting Respon­
dents, at the commencement of the trial de novo on 23rd April 
1992 all parties to the action admitted that the said Plan 
depicts the land described in the scheduled to the plaint and 
sought to be partitioned, and no point of contest or issue was 
raised in regard to the identity of the corpus. However, when 
Carolis Singho have evidence on 21st August 1997 he spoke 
about the discrepancy in the land extent, and his Counsel 
moved to raise two more issues in regard to the failure to 
properly register lis pendens, which application was turned 
down by the learned District Judge on the ground that this 
aspect of the matter should have been taken up before the 
commencement of the trial.

There esists a lack of clarity, even amongst each of the 
parties themselves, with regard to the description of the 
corpus described in the schedule to the plaint as Porikehena 
in extent 3 roods and 11 perches by reference to Plan No. 
167058 dated 2nd July 1895 authenticated by D. G. Mantale,
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Surveyor General. This Plan was not produced in court 
by any of the parties. It must be noted, that lots ‘A ’ and 
“E’ of Plan No. 1868 dated 27th July 1940 and prepared by 
Licensed Surveyor M. D. A. Goonatilleka (3D1) showing parts of 
Porikehena which were subjected to the amicable partition 
amongst Jeeris’s heirs, also add up to a extent of 3 roods 
and 11 perches, and a superimposition of the said lots A ’ 
and ‘E’ of the said Plan on the Preliminary Plan No. 255 dat­
ed 11th October 1970 prepared by Licensed Surveyor A. P. S. 
Gunawardena clearly shows that the said Preliminary Plan 
depicts a land extent of 1 acre and 16.85 perches which 
exceeds the land claimed by the Appellant as well as by the 
Respondents by approximately 1 rood and 5.85 perches. 
The Respondents, in their evidence and submissions at 
the various stages of this case, have sometimes seemingly 
admitted the corpus as described in the plaint to be Porikehena, 
despite the aforesaid disparity, and at other times sought to 
challenge this position. The parties have not shown consis­
tency in this regard, and failed in their preliminary duty to 
describe adequately and with clarity the corpus being the 
subject matter of these proceedings.

The identity of the corpus is also a matter of fundamental 
importance in ensuring that all persons who have any claim 
to it to participate in the partition action, which ultimately 
confers title in rem. The Partition Act No 16 of 1951, that was 
applicable at the time of the institution of the action in 1969, 
provided for the registration of lis pendens and other steps 
which had as their objective the proper investigation of title. 
It appears from the original record maintained in the District 
Court which was called for by this Court, that lis pendens 
was registered in terms of Section 6 of the Partition Act on 
13th February 1969 in folio G 384/48 at the Land Registry 
with respect to the land referred to in the schedule to the
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plaint in extent 3 roods and 11 perches. However, an exami­
nation of the journal entries in the original record maintained 
in the District Court in this case (from 18th April 1989, being 
the date of the reconstruction of the record after the original 
record was destroyed by fire) did not show any evidence 
that lis pendens was registered for the larger extent of land 
depicted in the Preliminary Plan No. 255 in extent 1 acre and 
16.85 perches, and the fact that learned Counsel for Carolis 
Singho on 21st August 1997 sought to raise two additional 
issues in this regard suggests that in fact there was no such 
registration.

It has been expressly provided in Section 23(3) of the 
Partition Act of 19 51 that where a survey made on a commission 
issued by court in a partition case “discloses that the land 
described in the plaint is only a portion of a larger land which 
should have been made the subject matter of the action, the 
court shall specify the party to the action by whom, and the 
date on or before which, an application for the registration of 
the action as a lis pendens affecting that larger land shall be 
filed in court” to enable the filling of lis pendends showing the 
larger land and taking other mandatory steps under the Act, 
which are necessary to ensure that all interested parties are 
before court. The District Court has ordered the partitioning 
of the said larger portion of land depicted in Preliminary Plan 
No. 255 consisting of 1 acre and 16.85 perches. Which far 
exceeds the land described in the schedule to the plaint, and 
in the absence of material to show that Section 23 of the 
Partition Act was complied with, raises serious doubts at to 
the regularity and legality of the impugned decision of the 
District Court in this case.

Sufficiency of Investigation of Title

The first substantial question of law on which special 
leave to appeal was granted against the decision of the Court
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of Appeal is whether in law there was sufficient investiga­
tion of title by the original court. Learned President’s Counsel 
for the Appellant strenuously contended that there was, and 
learned Counsel for the Respondents argued with equal force 
that there was not.

It is trite law that, in a partition suit which is instituted 
to bring an end to co-ownership of land through a decree 
which is binging not only on the parties to the suit but in rem 
over the entirety of society, the dispute is not to be settled 
on issues alone, but on any points of interest that the court 
sees fit in discharging its sacred duty for the full investiga­
tion of title. As was observed by Layard, C. J. in Mather v. 
Thamotharam Pillai (supra) at pages 250 to 251,

“.... The question to be decided in a partition suit is not 
merely matters between parties which may be decided in 
a civil action; the Court has to decide in every such suit 
matters in respect of which the parties need not neces­
sarily be in dispute and on which in this particular suit 
they are not at issue, viz., that the land is held in common 
by the plaintiff and defendants, and they solely have title 
to the land sought to be partitioned. The Court has not 
only to decide the matters in which the parties are in 
dispute, but to safeguard the interests of others who are 
no parties to the suit, who will be bound by a decree for 
partition made by the Court under the provisions of the 
Ordinance.” (Italics added)

Layard, C. J. was there interpreting the Partition 
Ordinance No. 10 of 1863, which has since been repealed, 
but the same obligation is cast on the court by the provi­
sions of the Partition Act No. 16 of 1951 which applied 
at the time of institution of the action from which this 
appeal arises. In fact, dicta from the judgement of Layard, C. J.
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were quoted with approval by G. P. S. de Silva, C. J. in 
Gnanapandithen and Another v. Balanayagam and Another<25> 
which was decided under the provisions of the current 
legislation on the subject, namely, the Partition Law No. 
21 of 1977, as subsequently amended, which replaced the 
Partition Act of 1951. A basic principle in all the enactments 
is that where there has been no proper investigation of title, 
any resulting partition decree necessarily has to be set 
aside.

In the context of the stringent legal provisions of the 
relevant legislation, learned Counsel for the Respondent 
submitted the Appellant has failed to establish that the land 
is held in common by the Appellant and Respondents, and 
that the Respondents solely have title to the land sought 
to be partitioned. He submitted that it was clear from the 
evidence that Haramanis never possessed Porikehena, that 
Jeeris and his heirs alone possessed the entirety of Porikehena 
along with the two adjoining lands called Indipitiya and 
Mahakele Mukalana and had in fact, over the course of 30 years 
of exclusive possession, prescribed to Porikehene as against 
the said Haramanis. It was submitted by learned Counsel for 
the Respondents that any instance at which Haramanis had 
acted in relation to Porikehena is explicable on basis that he 
functioned as an agent of Jeeris. He explained that when 
Jeeris died leaving as his heirs Emis, Sadiris, Charlis and 
Sethuhamy who continued to possess all three lands in 
common, they put an end to their common ownership by 
amalgamating and amicably divided the said lands among 
themselves by Partition Plan No. 1868 dated 27th July 1940 
certified by D. A. Goonatilleka, Licenced Surveyor (3D1). 
Learned Counsel for the Respondents submitted that the 
said lots ‘A’ and ‘E ’ were by the said Plan marked 3D1, 
apportioned to Charlis and Emis respectively, and that lot
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‘A ’ was subsequently transferred to Obies (the original 13th 
Defendant) whose widow Matarage Menchinona (the 41st 
Substituted Defendant) now contests the Appellant’s case 
along with the issue of Pitipana Arachchige Comelis (the 3rd 
Defendant) who it was submitted gained title to Lot ‘E ’ from 
Emis.

It was further submitted by the learned Counsel for the 
Respondents that the Appellant, only had title to parts of Lot ‘D ’ 
of Plan No. 1868 (3D1) through Sethuhamy and Sethuhamy’s 
son, Welapahala Arachchige Remanis, her late husband 
who was the original Plaintiff. It was his contention that 
the exclusive, undisturbed and uninterrupted possession by 
the Respondents of defined and divided lots along with the 
other parties to the 1940 division, prior to, or at least, from 
the date of the said division, defeated through prescription 
the co-ownership established by the initial Crown Grant. It 
was also submitted by learned Counsel for the Respondents 
that the Appellant’s case was doomed to fail as the identity of 
the corpus was in grave doubt, and additionally, as the land 
known as Porikehena ceased to exist as a distinct land its 
following amalgamation in 1940 with Indipitiya and 
Mahakele Mukalana. Learned Counsel for the Respondent 
stressed that the Appellant is legally bound by this division as 
Sethuhamy, the mother of Remanis, who had participated 
in the division had executed Deed No. 1845 marked as 3D3, 
whereby she conveyed lot ‘D ’ of Plan No. 1868 (3D1) to 
Remanis. He contended that by accepting the said 
conveyance, Sethuhamy precluded herself as well as her 
successors-in-title, from disputing the validity of 3D1. 
He submitted that the Appellant, who is the widow of 
Remanis, by claiming title based on the said Deed No. 1845 
(3D3) and her own testimony in court, had admitted the said 
amalgamation and division, vitiating her right to claim 
otherwise.
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Learned President’s Counsel for the Appellant submitted 
that the original court has adequately discharged its 
obligation of satisfying itself that the land described in the 
schedule to the plaint (1) was held in common; and (2) that 
title devolved on the parties in the manner and to the extent 
as set out in the plaint. He submitted that by virtue of Crown 
Grant No. 30258, dated 28th December 1895 (PI), Pitipana 
Arachchige Jeeris and one Thantirige Haramanis, became 
entitled to equal shares in the land sought to be partitioned 
called Porikehena, in extent 3 roods and 11 perches. He 
further submitted that the said Haramanis and Jeeris owned 
two lands in common, namely, Porikehena, the corpus sought 
to be partitioned in the action which led to this appeal, and 
Kirigaldeniya. It was his contention that while Jeeris lived on 
Porikehena and Haramanis lived on Kirigaldeniya, neither did 
Jeeris give up his rights to Kirigaldeniya nor did Haramanis 
give up his rights to Porikehena. He submitted that this 
position is evidenced by the fact that the heirs of Jeeris had 
sold rights in Kirigaldeniya on Deed No. 7066 dated 15th 
August 1922 attested by D. T. S. S. Jayatilake, Notary Public 
(P4) to the heirs of Haramanis and that some heirs of 
Haramanis had in turn sold by Deed No. 1874, dated 17th 
October 1967 (P2), rights in Porikehena to the heirs of Jeeris, 
including the original Plaintiff, Welapahala Arachchige 
Remanis. He submitted that the District Court had examined 
all relevant evidence carefully, and was justified in upholding 
the claim of the Appellant for a 21748th share of Porikehena 
under the said purchase from the heirs of Haramanis, and 
a further 1 /56th share of Porikehena under the birth right of 
her deceased husband Remanis, as an heir of Jeeris. Learned 
President’s Counsel for the Appellant emphasized that Jeeris 
and Haramanis, being co-owners, their undivided rights 
cannot be prescribed by each other, in the absence of 
clear evidence of ouster or something equivalent to ouster.
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He relied on the decisions of our Court in Corea v. Appuhamy{26) 
and Tillekeratne v. Bastian,{27) and also referred to the decision 
in Maria Fernando and Another v. Anthony Fernando <28), in 
which at 360 Wignesweran, J. observes as follows:

“Whether ouster may be presumed from long, continued, 
undisturbed, and uninterrupted possession depends on 
all the circumstances in each case, (vide, Siyadoris v. 
Simon.” <28<a>)

It is a well established principle in the Roman-Dutch 
Law that “the possession of one co-owner is, in law, the 
possession of the other,” G. L. Pieris, The Law of Property in 
Sri Lanka Vol. 1 at p. 359. In the celebrated case of Corea v. 
Appuhamy (supra) the Privy Council laid down in unequivocal 
terms that every co-owner must be presumed to be possessing 
in the capacity of co-owner, and that as Lord MacNaghten 
put it at 78 of his judgment -

“His possession was in law the possession of his 
co-owners. It was not possible for him to put an end 
to that possession by any secret intention in his mind. 
Nothing short of ouster or something equivalent to ouster 
could bring about that result.”

In Tillekaratne v. Bastian (supra) a Full Bench of the 
Supreme Court drawing from the principles of the common 
law in Ceylon, as it then was, and in England, from where 
our Prescription Ordinance had drawn much influence, 
Bertram, C. J. set out that our law on prescription, both in 
situations arising out of co-ownership and otherwise, must 
be approached by equating the previously unknown and 
abstract term “ouster” to a simple question as to whether the 
possession in question was or has become “adverse”. At 18 of 
his judgement, Betram, C. J. observed that -
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“What, then, is the real effect of the decision in Corea v. 
Appuhamy (supra) upon the interpretation of the word 
“adverse” with reference to cases of co-ownership? It is, 
as I understand it, that for the purpose of these cases the 
word “adverse” must, in its application to, any particular 
case, be interpreted in the light of three principles of 
law:-

(i) Every co-owner having a right to possess and enjoy 
the whole property and every part of it, the possession 
of one co-owner in that capacity is in law the posses­
sion of all.

(ii) Where the circumstances are such that a man's 
possession may be referable either to an unlawful 
act or to a lawful title, he is presumed to possess by 
inrtue of the lawful title.

(iii) A person who has entered into possession of land in 
one capacity is presumed to continue to possess it in 
the same capacity. ”

While the first of the above principles is one of substantive 
law, the second and third principles are presumptions, and 
thus, principles of the law of evidence. It is the applicability 
of the third of these principles, which has been the basis of 
our decisions on this difficult area of law, and must decide 
question of the ownership of Porikehena. The effect of this 
principle is that, where any person’s possession was originally 
not adverse, and he claims that it has become adverse, the 
onus is on him to prove it. In doing so, he is required not only 
to prove an intention on his part to possess adversely, but 
also a manifestation of that intention to the true owner against 
whom he sets up his possession. Considering recent decisions 
such as Maria Fernando v. Anthony Fernando (supra),
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authorities remain prone today as they were in 1918 as 
observed by Bertram, C. J., to emphasize the definite and 
heavy burden cast upon the assertor to prove “an overt 
unequivocal act.”

However, it must not be forgotten that Bertram, C. J. 
himself acknowledged that there can be no hard and fast rules 
in this regard, and in particular, the evidentiary principle 
that a person who has entered into possession of land in one 
capacity is presumed to continue to possess it in the same 
capacity, might become unreal or “artificial” if it is accepted 
without qualification. In the course of his judgment in 
Tillekaratne v. Bastian (supra) at 20 to 21 he observed that -

“..........presumptions of the law of evidence should be
regarded as guides to the reasoning faculty, and not as 
fetters upon its exercise. Otherwise, by an argumentative 
process based upon these presumptions, we may in any 
particular case be brought to a conclusion which, though 
logically unimpeachable, is contrary to common sense. 
It is the reverse of reasonable to impute a character 
to a man’s possession which his whole behavior has 
long repudiated. If it is found that one co-owner and his 
predecessors in interest have been in possession of the 
whole property for a period as far back as reasonable 
memory reaches; that he and they have done nothing to 
recognize the claims of the other co-owners; that he had 
they have taken the whole produce of the property for 
themselves; and that these co-owners, have never done 
anything to assert a claim to any share of the produce, it 
is artificial in the highest degree to say that such a person 
and his predecessors in interest must be presumed to 
be possessing all this time in the capacity of co-owners, 
and that they can never be regarded as having possessed
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adversely, simply because no definite positive act can be 
pointed to as originating or demonstrating the adverse 
possession. Where it is found that presumptions of law 
lead to such an artificial result, it will generally be found 
that the law itself provides a remedy for such a situation 
by means of counter-presumptions. If such a thing were 
not possible, law would in many cases become out of 
harmony with justice and good sense.”

It is evident in this dictum that not only has this Court 
recognized the strong logical underpinnings for a counter­
presumption of “ouster”, but it has also laid down guidelines 
under which such a presumption may be made. With further 
reference to a line of cases beginning from the seminal judge­
ment in Corea v. Appuhamy (supra), all of which have been 
analyzed in the leading decision of this Court in Gunasekera 
v. Tissera and Others,(29) along with numerous references 
to be found in the Roman -  Dutch law authorities, the case 
for declaring the principle to be part of our law was well 
established. Accordingly, in my view it is not only legitimate 
but necessary, wherever long-continued exclusive possession 
by one co-owner is proved to have existed, to delve into 
the question whether it is just and reasonable in all the 
circumstances of the case that the parties should be treated 
as though it had been proved that separate and exclusive 
possession had become adverse at some point of time more 
than ten years before action brought.

It is in this light that one has to consider the submission 
made with great force by the learned President’s Counsel for 
the Appellant that the amicable partition said to have been 
effected by Plan No. 1868 (3D1) by the heirs of Jeeris does 
not bind Haramanis or his heirs as they were not aware of 
the said Plan, and additionally, as no Partition Deed to which
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all co-owners were parties had been entered into to give effect 
to the said Plan. In this context, learned President’s Counsel 
invited the attention of court to the following dictum of 
Gunasekara, J. (with Gratiaen, J. concurring) in Kobbekaduwa 
v. Seneviratne,{30) at page 359:

“.............  The mere fact that one co-owner was in
occupation of the entirety of a house which is owned in 
common and purported to execute deeds in respect of 
the entirety for a period of over ten years does not lead to 
the presumption of an ouster in the absence of evidence 
to show, that the other co-owners had knowledge of the 
transactions.”

In my opinion, while the question whether Haramanis 
and his heirs were aware of the partition effected by Plan 
No. 1868 (3D1) is most material, an important consideration 
that might affect the rights of the co-owners to the land is 
whether they acquiesced in the division effected thereby for 
a period of more than 10 years after it was implemented. As
M. D. H. Fernando, J. in Gunasekera v. Tissera and Others 
(supra) observed at 258 -

“If the division is not by all the co-owners, but is based on 
a plan prepared by one co-owner without the knowledge 
of the other co-owners, his possession of divided 
allotment is not adverse (Ithohamy v. Karanagoda,i3l)) 
but prescriptive title can be acquired by virtue of 
possession for such a period and in such circumstances 
that the counter presumption applies”

It appears from the evidence led by the parties that 
Haramanis and Jeeris owned two lands in common, namely, 
Porikehena, the corpus sought to be partitioned in the 
action which led to this appeal, and Kirigaldeniya which was
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situated about half a mile away from Porikehena. The version 
of the Respondent’ that there existed an arrangement between 
Haramanis and Jeeris for the former to hold Kirigaldeniya 
and the latter to possess Porikehena exclusively, if accepted, 
would explain the logic behind the amicable partition alleged 
to have been effected in 1940 through Plan No. 1868 (3D1) 
whereby Porikehena along with Indiketiya and Mahakele 
Mukalana owned by Jeeris were put together and divided 
amongst his heirs. It is clear from the evidence led by both 
parties, that in 1940 when Porikehena was amalgamated with 
the said two adjacent lands and divided into 5 distinct lots, a 
significant de facto change in the manner of possession of the 
land occurred. Following the division effected in 1940, wire 
fences had been erected and constructions were made on the 
said lands (as depicted in Preliminary Plan No. 255) by the 
new holders, which was also admitted in her testimony by the 
Appellant Sopinona, who stated that the two houses on the 
land were occupied by Menchinona, the widow of Obias, and 
Comelis, both grandsons of Jeeris. Furthermore, the Appellant’s 
mother-in-law, Sethuhamy, directly participated in the 
division effected by Plan No. 1868 (3D1) in 1940 and conveyed, 
by Deed No. 1845 (3D3) executed on 23rd February 1950, the 
entirety of lot D of the said Plan No. 1868 (3D1) to Remanis, 
the deceased husband of the Appellant.

This court cannot also ignore the fact that the testimony of 
Carolis, who is the only descendant of Haramanis to testify in 
this case, goes more to establish the case of the Respondent. 
He stated in evidence that he lived in part of Kirigaldeniya, 
and that he used to go to Porikehena and “Charley Mama”, 
who was one of Jeeris’ sons and who was in occupation of the 
land picked coconuts and breadfruit and gave them to him as 
well as to other members of his family, acknowledging their 
rights as co-owners of Porikehena. It is noted that Carolis
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stated in evidence that he went to Porikehena with his grand­
mother: e p © 0  e3®<© ®® ©osg 0@ao® zsQa @©23 0 2 3 0 a ”

Although the point of time at which Carolis collected such 
produce from Porikehena was not elicited by Counsel for the 
Appellant, he has given a clue about the approximate date in 
his answers to questions put to him in cross-examination:

" g  : @OaSjSc33©5rf2550 23®3 @©aS S@©g? .

0  : ® 0  Z^£)3 2 3 3 0 @ ci 0C33.

g : 2^03 2 3 3 0 @ ci 0C330 C 3 0 0  23®3 Cfg 0 2 0  0 ®  <g>0®0

0@ ci 2OiS0x?

c  ■■ epSjcJxg 15 2bcJ® 0C330 og0 Q ® d  20x2a.”

It is relevant to note that at the time when Corolis testified 
in 1997 he was 72 years old, which means that he was bom  
in 1925, and he would have been 15 years old in 1940, the 
year in which the amicable partition was effected by Plan 
No. 1868 (3D1). This gives credence to the testimony of 
Comelis, the sole witness for the Respondents at the second 
trial, who testified that he was in possession of lot ‘E ’ of 3D1 
but he did not know Carolis and that he never exercised any 
rights of co-ownership over Porikehena.

"®g £5cS23 8 <§© b  C3x2sf230 @ 0 3 0 . E Cf2sf®dc3 gd23 ® 2 3 3 0 ® S

epSScs 6§® -®$ ®Q. 1940 S O  ®a g 2s£S 0«; 0®cs23©3. ®o 0 0  es^oSS 

®2J?2303. ® ®  2 3 g@ ©  2 3 ® 8 lg S  Sc33 @Z3@232sl £3x@-^§cf0O 6332sfS 

g 25̂ 2533 @23238. 23@Cfc?gS S03 230 2300C32sf Cf23fe325i 23(5 ® d g 0 2 s f  

<g)^8o2S? 2303 3D1 20C33. 23@ <5lgd  @ ®  <g£)®@ 230g302S? @£33(g @233d  

§ 2 5 ®  0^25^230 £p3®0 23X©X- 0  CfC3 <|>0® Cf0O §2023 2S00C3 © 2 3 @ ® S . 

S 0 g 0  23x©X- @ ®  <i>£>®0 0KB £3323 CfC3 @ 2 3 ® ® S . ®3 CpQS0aS23®  

Sc323 ©2330C3 @023 ZS)Qdlt5$ § 2 5 ®  0 ^  23X©X-”

It is possible to reconcile the apparent conflict in the 
testimony of Carolis and Comelis on the basis of the period
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of time during which rights of co-ownership were allegedly 
exercised by the heirs of Haramanis including Corolis. The 
only conclusion that one can reasonably arrive on the basis 
of the testimony of these witnesses is that none of the heirs 
of Haramanis excercised any rights over Porikehena after 
the amalgamation of that land with two other lands and the 
amicable partition effected by Plan No. 1868 (3D1) in 1940. 
In fact, the totality of the evidence point to the fact that none 
had contested the separate possession established in 1940, 
and all respected the separation effected in 1940 and entered 
into various subsequent transactions on that basis.

It is important to note that the only other witness for the 
Appellant was Sopinona herself, who admitted in her testimony 
that she knew nothing herself about the manner in which 
Jeeris and Haramanis exercised rights over Porikehena, nor 
did she know personally about the amicable partition alleged 
to have been effected in 1940 through Plan No. 1868 (3D1). 
In fact, in the course of her testimony she admitted in cross 
examination that after 1940, the parties to the said Plan had 
abided by the division made thereunder. She answered a vital 
question as follows:

"g @® ©aJdrao zsdmDo S ag  ®dg 0@si <§>S@©
qSS0aS23)® 3D1 - Saso 8§}d £pzg0 ®a Scag €>ts> 1, 2. 
3, 19 a 25} SSSz3dx©25i qd&coso S®as>0o Sago?

C  : ®S.”

In the context of all this evidence, the conclusion is 
irresistible that land named Porikehena which was referred 
in the scheduled to the plaint lost its separate identity by 
reason of the amalgamation and partition effected by Plan 
No. 1868 (PI) in 1940. It also transformed the character of 
the possession of Jeeris’s heirs from one consistent with
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co-ownership into what we may call “adverse” possession, 
which is essential for the acquisition of prescriptive title. 
By 1950, such possession had crystallized into ownership, 
which made it lawful for Sethuhamy to covey lot D of 3D1 
to Remanis by Deed No. 1845 (3D3) in 1950. Further­
more, it is important to note that the heirs of Jeeris and 
Haramanis, who live not too far apart mainly in Porikehena 
and Kirigaldeniya respectively, have refrained from asserting 
rights of co-ownership in relation to the land held by the 
other, be it Porikehena or Kirigaldeniya, for a long time until 
coaxed into action by Remanis, who in 1967, perhaps as a 
prelude to the institution of this partition action, purported 
to buy from certain heirs of Haramanis rights in Porikehena 
under Deed No. 1874 (P2) in October 1967. It has to be 
observed that these heirs of Haramanis had themselves 
acquiesced in the division that had been effected by Plan 
No. 1868 (PI) in 1940, and the said division has remained 
substantially the same changing hands from parent to child 
or vendor to vendee for a period in excess of five decades 
at the point of time Sopinona, Carolis and Comelis gave 
evidence at the second trial in 1996 and 1997.

There are two major difficulties that arise in the stand 
taken by the Appellant in this case. The first is that the claims 
of the Appellant for a share of Porikehena under a purchase 
from the heirs of Haramanis effected by Deed No. 1874 dated 
28th October 1967, and a further share of Porikehena under 
the birth right of her deceased husband Remanis, as an heir 
of Jeeris, are mutually inconsistent. The contradiction arising 
from the juxtaposition of these two claims is that in order to 
assert a “birth right” to the co-ownership of Porikehena as an 
heir of Jeeris, she has to disassociate herself from Plan No. 
1868 (3D1), which she can ill afford to do as the ownership
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to the divided lot D of the said Plan sought to be conveyed 
by Deed No. 1845 (3D3) is expressed in the deed itself to be 
based on the said amicable partition effected in 1940 and 
prescription.

Secondly, the Appellant has an even more serious 
problem in regard to the total extent of land that was tak­
en to constitute the corpus sought to be partitioned in the 
impugned judgment of the District Court. The Appellant has 
failed to explain to this Court the basis on which Porikehe- 
na, which according to the plaint, and the evidence led in 
the case, consisted of 3 roods and 11 perches as stated in 
Crown Grant No. 30258 (PI) increased in size and extent to 
I acre and 16.85 perches as shown in the Preliminary Plan 
No. 255. The problem here is that there is no evidence of any 
paper title that establishes co-ownership between Jeeris and 
Haramanis to the extent beyond 3 roods and 11.9 perches 
covered by the Crown Grant.

In my view, the Learned District Judge has considered 
the relations between Jeeris and Haramanis as co-owners 
of the land they acquired through the Crown Grant of 1895 
(PI) but her examination of the material relating to the 
amalgamation and amicable partition effected in 1940 
and subsequent dealings and transactions that took place 
thereafter is lacking in depth. I am of the opinion that the 
evidence relating to the enjoyment and use of the property 
by the heirs of Jeeris and Haramanis over a period of at least 
29 years leading up to the institution of the action in 1969 has 
not been adequately examined and analyzed by the learned 
District Judge. Accordingly, I answer question (a) on which 
special leave was granted in the negative, and hold that the 
original court has not conducted a sufficient investigation of 
title as required by law.
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Duty to Answer All Issues

It is now necessary to turn to the other two questions 
on which leave to appeal has been granted by this Court. 
Question (b) arising on this appeal is whether all issues need 
be answered by the District Judge when the answer to one 
issue alone sufficiently determines the title of the parties to 
the land both on deeds and on prescription. It is quite obvious 
that the duty of formulating issues is a responsibility of 
Court, and it is the duty of court to answer all issues 
arising in the case. As Lord Devlin observed in Bank of 
Ceylon v. Chelliah Pillai(321 at 27, “a case must be tried upon 
the issues on which the right decision of the case appears to 
the court to depend and it is well settled that the framing of 
such issues is not restricted by the pleadings. .. .” In Peiris v. 
Municipal Council, Galle1331 at 556, Justice Tambiah remarked 
that even where the plaintiff fails to raise a relevant issue, it 
is the duty of the judge to raise the necessary issues for a just 
decision of the case. A fortiori, it follows that it is the duty of 
the judge to answer at the end of the trial all the issues raised 
in the case.

The only exception to this cardinal principle is found 
in Section 147 of the Civil Procedure Code wherein courts 
have been vested with a degree of discretion, where it is of 
the opinion that a particular matter may be decided on the 
issues of law alone, to try the issues of law first. In Mohinudeen 

and Another v. Lanka Bankuwa, York Sheeet, Colombo 01 (34) 
at 299 Hector Yapa, J., cited with approval the following dicta 
of Wijeyaratna, J. in Muthukrishna v. Gomes and Others (35) 
at 8:

“Judges of original courts should, as far as practicable, 
go through the entire trial and answer all the issues
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unless they are certain that a pure question of law without the 
leading of evidence (apart from formal evidence) can dispose 
of the case.” (Emphasis added)

Making a further exception which will enable judges to 
avoid answering one or more of issues of fact -  such as issues
(2) to (9) in this case -  on the basis that the answer to one of 
them will effectively dispose of all questions regarding which 
the parties are at variance, might be somewhat imprudent 
as they could lead to disastrous results. In fact, a careful 
examination of the issues formulated at the commencement 
of trial in this case shows that there was no way in which 
the court could have avoided answering all the issues raised 
at the commencement of the trial, and it is ironic that the 
learned trial Judge had gone through the entire trial but had 
chosen not to answer only issue (1). Indeed, if the learned 
Judge had focused even for a moment on the other 13 issues, 
she may have answered issue (1) differently.

The final question [question (c)] on which leave to appeal 
was granted in this case, is whether, if the answer to a single 
issue is in effect a complete answer to all the issues arising 
for determination in this action, whether it is necessary 
and incumbent on the District Judge to give specific answers 
to the other issues. In this context, it is relevant to note 
that in terms of Section 187 of the Civil Procedure Code, a 
judgement should contain a concise statement of the case, 
the points for determination, the decision thereon, and the 
reasons for such decision. As was observed by court in 
Wamakula v. Ramani Jayawardena (supra) at 208, “bare 
answers to issues without reasons are not in compliance 
with the requirements of Section 187 of the Civil Procedure 
Code.” The judge must evaluate and consider the totality 
of the evidence, giving a short summary of the evidence of the
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parties and witnesses and stating the reasons for his 
preference to accept the evidence of one party as opposed to 
that of the other. The learned District Judge in this case has 
totally failed to discharge this duty by failing to even attempt 
answering all of the very material issues raised on behalf of the 
Respondents, and has also failed to explain why, in her view, 
it was not necessary to answer the other very important 
issues.

I have no difficulty in answering questions (b) and (c) in 
the negative and in favour of the Respondents.

Conclusion

In the context of all these facts, I conclude that the 
learned District Judge has not only failed to carefully examine 
questions relating to the identity of the corpus and the 
adequacy of the lis pendens registered in the case, but also 
failed to properly investigate title and in particular examine 
the issues relating to prescription with' the intensity that 
is expected in a partition case. Although for these reasons, 
I agree with the decision of the Court of Appeal that the 
judgment of the District Court cannot stand and should 
be set aside, I have also given anxious consideration to the 
question whether this case should be sent back to the 
District Court for trial de novo.

I have carefully considered the evidence led at the second 
trial before the District Court, and am of the opinion that 
on this evidence, it is clear that the possession of Jeeris’s 
heirs became adverse to Haramanis’s heirs after an amicable 
partition was effected through Plan No. 1868 (3D1) in 1940, 
and the persons to whom lots ‘A ’ and ‘E ’ of the said Plan were 
allocated, and their successors in title, had possessed the
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said lots exclusively up to the time of institution of action in 
1969 by Remanis. It is manifest that Porikehena, the land 
sought to be partitioned in this action and is described in 
the schedule to the plaint, which coincides with the said lots 
‘A’ and <E’, had lost the character of co-owned property long 
before Remanis instituted the partition action from which 
this appeal arises, more than 40 years ago. Accordingly, I 
am of the firm opinion that the learned District Judge should 
have dismissed the action on the basis that the corpus sought 
to be partitioned was not co-owned property.

I am also firmly of the opinion that, in any event, no 
useful purpose would be served by sending this case back to 
the original court for trial de novo, as directed by the Court of 
Appeal. This would constitute a third trial of this case more 
than four decades since the matter was first brought before 
the District Court. This fact in itself raises serious doubts 
regarding the possibility of securing witnesses with first hand 
knowledge of the material facts, considering the time which 
has already elapsed and the further time such fresh trial 
would take to make its way through the courts yet again. 
I note that Sopinona, Carolis and Comelis, the witnesses 
presented before the courts in the second trial before the 
District Court of Homagama, would by now be more than 80 
years old if they are living, and their descendants may not 
know about the facts of this case even to the extent Sopinona, 
Carolis and Comelis knew.

Considering therefore all the circumstances of this case, 
and in particular, the uncertainty regarding the identity of the 
corpus, the failure to register lis pendens for the larger land 
of 1 acre and 16.85 perches, the weakness in the case of the 
Appellant as presented at the trial, the difficulty of funding 
witnesses who can testify at a fresh trial, and the evidence
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led at the trial which show that the land sought to be 
partitioned was not co-owned properly, I am of the opinion 
that it is appropriate to make order setting aside the judge­
ment of the Court of Appeal dated 22nd November 2002 as well 
as the judgement of the District Court dated 4th September 
1998, and substitute therefore an order that the action filed in 
the District Cowl by the substituted Appellant should stand 
dismissed. I do not make any order for. costs in all the 
circumstances of this case.

Judgment o f the Court o f Appeal and District Court set aside. 

Appeal dismissed

By majority decision trial de Novo stands.

Appeal dismissed


